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Practitioners’ Advisory Group
c/o McKenna, Long & Aldridge, LLP

1900 K St. NW, Washington, D.C. 20006
Mark Flanagan - tel. (202) 496-7553, fax (202) 496-7756

Amy Baron-Evans – tel. (617) 371-1076, fax (617) 371-1037

November 4, 2004

Honorable Ricardo H. Hinojosa
United States Sentencing Commission
One Columbus Circle, N.E.
Suite 2-500, South Lobby
Washington, D.C. 20002-8002

Re: Recommended Long-Term Legislative Response to Blakely v.
Washington 

Dear Judge Hinojosa:

We write to propose a long-term legislative solution should the Supreme Court decide in
United States v. Booker (04-104) and United States v. Fanfan (04-105) that the holding in Blakely
v. Washington, 124 S. Ct. 2531 (2004) -- that the maximum constitutional sentence is the maximum
sentence the judge may impose solely on the basis of facts reflected in the jury verdict or admitted
by the defendant -- applies to the United States Sentencing Guidelines (“Guidelines”).  We believe
it likely that the Supreme Court will find that the Guidelines, which allow a judge to increase a
guideline sentence beyond the guideline range authorized by the jury or defendant’s admissions, is
inconsistent with a defendant’s rights to indictment, jury trial and proof beyond a reasonable doubt.

We have met with the United States Sentencing Commission (“Commission”) staff to discuss
the broad outlines of a long-term solution, endorsing a proposal suggested by James Felman, former
Co-chair of the Practitioners’ Advisory Group.  Under this proposal, the Guidelines will become part
of the criminal code enacted by Congress (“Codified proposal”).  The PAG supports that solution
because it honors the rule announced in Blakely, advances sound sentencing policy (including the
Commission’s constructive role in designing and administering a rational sentencing system) and
can be implemented as a practical matter.

The discussion below explains in more detail why we support the Codified proposal (See
Section I); addresses the staff’s questions as to whether and how the existing system will need to be
changed under the Codified proposal (See Section II); and identifies the drawbacks to purely
advisory guidelines and the so-called Statutory Maximum approach (See Section III).   We hope this1
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information is useful to the Commission in formulating a sentencing framework consistent with the
pending Supreme Court decision.       

I. The Codified Proposal

Under the Codified proposal, see Exhibit A, critical culpability factors, such as drug quantity,
loss amount, or role in the offense will be selected from among the existing guideline factors to be
codified as elements of the offense that will be charged and proved to a jury beyond a reasonable
doubt.  The jury’s determination (or the defendant’s guilty plea) will result in a sentencing range
within which the judge will impose the sentence.  The number of offense levels will be reduced from
43 to approximately 10, and the widths of the resulting ranges increased accordingly, without
overlap.  In choosing a sentence within the range, the judge will have discretion to consider, on an
advisory basis, factors not codified as elements.  A sentence above the top of the range established
by the jury’s verdict will be prohibited.  A sentence below the range based on mitigating factors of
a kind or to a degree not adequately encompassed by the elements or the within-range advisory
guidelines will be permitted.

While Congress defines offense elements, we believe the Commission, with its substantial
expertise in sentencing policy and the data it has collected over the years on actual sentencing
practice, should recommend to Congress which facts currently treated as sentencing factors should
be designated as elements.  The Commission should continue to promulgate within-range advisory
guidelines, perhaps streamlining them to retain some but not all of the existing guideline factors.
  

We support this approach because it will ensure the fundamental right to a jury finding based
on proof beyond a reasonable doubt of the facts essential to punishment, while maintaining the
flexibility needed to take account of individual variations.  While some believe that a charge offense
system places sentencing power in the hands of the prosecution, experience with the Guidelines has
shown that the relaxed burden of proof and evidentiary protections attached to sentencing factors has
transferred power to the prosecution, has resulted in inaccurate and unjust sentences in individual
cases and has fostered widespread unwarranted disparity.  The charge-based approach, coupled with
sentencing flexibility and subject to appellate review, will make the system more transparent, fair
and accurate.  

II. Revisions To Consider Under the Codified Proposal 

A. Relevant Conduct

The Guidelines, at section 1B1.3, provide the rules for using facts other than those found by
the jury or admitted by the defendant to determine a sentence.  Relevant conduct can encompass
conduct that was not charged, was charged and later dismissed or even was the subject of a not guilty
verdict.  Relevant conduct was originally intended to limit the impact of prosecutorial charging
discretion on sentence length.  Today, relevant conduct is assailed for being the tail that wags the dog
at sentencing.  Prosecutors are criticized for charging the most easily provable offense and waiting
for sentencing, with its relaxed standard of proof and lack of procedural protections, to do the hard
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work of increasing the time a person will spend incarcerated.  Relevant conduct often plays a central
role and is frequently the primary determinant of the length of a sentence.  

The relevant conduct rules can, for the most part, be readily incorporated into the Codified
proposal to accommodate the enhanced role a jury will play in determining the facts that affect a
sentence.  Putting aside for the moment the treatment of other participants’ conduct in section
1B1.3(a)(1)(B), the remaining relevant conduct provisions lend themselves readily to the charge and
proof approach.  Anything that will otherwise count as an element of an offense (either in the
classical or in the Codified proposal’s definition, see Exhibit A) that currently comes in at sentencing
as relevant conduct will now be charged and subject to proof beyond a reasonable doubt or a
stipulation.  For example, under section 1B1.3(a)(1)(A), the government will charge and be required
to prove “all acts and omissions committed, aided, abetted, counseled, commanded, induced,
procured, or willfully caused by the defendant . . .“  Similarly, the relevant conduct provision under
section 1B1.3(a)(2) is readily amenable to charge and proof to establish the guideline range.  Thus,
acts that are part of the same course of conduct or common scheme or plan under section 1B1.3(a)(2)
will be subject to charge and proof.

The charge and proof approach has the benefit of eliminating the most criticized practices
required by the current rules: use of acquitted conduct, dismissed charges and cross referenced
offenses.  The relevant conduct provision is thus reformed to assure that a defendant is sentenced
based on the crime for which he is convicted and not for conduct that was never charged, dismissed
if charged or for which he was acquitted.  

The Codified proposal will limit the application of section 1B1.3 (a)(1)(B), which establishes
the contribution of others’ conduct to determining the defendant’s sentence, to defendants convicted
of conspiracy.  (Now it applies whether or not the conduct is charged as a conspiracy).  The
approach, however, will retain the limits on sentencing exposure contained in the guideline and its
commentary which differentiate between criminal liability and culpability.  Sentencing for
defendants convicted of conspiracy will continue to rely on the Commission’s commentary to 1B1.3.
Specifically, it will retain the limitations on sentencing exposure imposed by section 1B1.3(a)(1)(B)
by treating that subsection and its commentary as jury instructions.  

Under this approach, the jury will be instructed about the differences between sentencing
accountability and criminal liability consistent with the limitations the guideline currently imposes.
The commentary restricts the sentencing impact of others’ deeds to conduct that was (i) in
furtherance of and (ii) reasonably foreseeable in connection with (iii) only that criminal activity
which that particular defendant agreed to jointly undertake.  Thus, if defendant’s co-conspirator
committed a crime in the course of the conspiracy, then defendant is entitled to an instruction to the
jury before he can be sentenced based on that crime following a conviction for conspiracy.  That
instruction will focus the jury on making necessary findings concerning forseeability and scope of
agreement.  The application notes contain a wealth of material that can inform the new jury
instructions and harmonize the use of relevant conduct to the newly articulated requirement that
juries, not judges, find the facts on which an increased sentence is based.
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B. Multiple Counts of Conviction

The Guidelines handle multiple count issues in two places -- Chapter 3D and Chapter 5G.
In Chapter 3D, the Guidelines address the effect of multiple counts of conviction on calculation of
the offense level.  They instruct the judge to determine first whether the multiple counts belong in
the same “group.”  If they are in the same group, the conduct relevant to each count in the group is
considered when determining whether to apply specific offense characteristics or other adjustments
to the offense level.  If they are not in the same group, a number of “units” is assigned to each count
(or group of counts, if some are in the same group and some are not), and those units translate into
offense levels to add to the count that has the highest offense level.  In Chapter 5G, the Guidelines
address when sentences should be made to run concurrently or consecutively.

Under the Codified proposal, the issue becomes what exactly it is that the jury must find to
allow the courts to apply Chapters 3D and 5G.  The most frequent way in which counts are
“grouped” is where the offense is covered by a Chapter Two guideline listed in the first part of
subsection 3D1.2(d).  That list identifies offense guidelines where the offense level is determined
largely on the basis of the total amount of harm or loss, the quantity of a substance involved or some
other measure of aggregate harm.  Drug offenses and fraud/theft offenses fit here.  

Under our approach, the court may not sentence based on a finding that increases the
guideline range maximum unless that finding is made by the jury or submitted by the defendant.  On
first blush, grouping under section 3D1.2(d) appears to increase the maximum of the range.
Grouping will allow the court, for example, to add drug amounts from count 2 to increase the offense
level for the drug offense in count 1.  However, without the grouping of these counts, section 3D1.4
would apply and counts 1 and 2 would be assigned either a unit, half a unit, or no units, depending
on the relative seriousness of each offense.  The total number of units translates into additional
offense levels.  When compared with grouping under section 3D1.2(d), that could lead to a higher
range, the same range, or a lower range, depending on the facts.  If grouping leads to the same range
or a lower range, there is no Blakely problem.  Even if application of the grouping rule yields a
higher range in a particular case, it appears that no special jury finding is needed.  The grouping
decision is made based on which Chapter Two provision applies to the offense of conviction.  Thus,
guilty verdicts on each of two drug counts, for example, provide all the findings a court will need
to hold that the counts should be grouped.

Grouping based on sections 3D1.2(a) – (c) is more problematic.  Again, in some cases
grouping under these provisions (as compared to not grouping and adding units instead) might raise
the guideline range, but much more frequently it will not.  In cases where it will not, there is no
Blakely problem.  In the rare case where grouping leads to a higher offense level, the jury might need
to decide, for example, whether two counts “involved the same victim,” USSG § 3D1.2(a), or
whether the acts or transactions in each count were “connected by a common criminal objective” or
“a common scheme or plan,” USSG § 3D1.2(b).  Subsection (c) applies if one of the counts
embodies conduct that is treated as an adjustment to the guideline applicable to another count.
Though there may be cases where grouping under (c) will cause a net increase in the range, no
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special factual finding by the jury is required.  Instead, all the judge needs to do is examine whether
the guideline calculations for the two counts in question have a factor in common.

As for concurrent versus consecutive sentences, there is a general statutory provision and a
general guidelines provision.  Under 18 U.S.C. § 3584(b), the court is directed to consider the factors
set forth in section 3553(a) in deciding whether to impose concurrent or consecutive sentences.  The
factors in section 3553(a) are the very ones the courts are directed to consider when choosing the
length of the sentence.  In other words, these general factors (e.g., the need for the sentence imposed
to deter, promote respect for the law or reflect the seriousness of the offense) guide a judge’s
discretion but do not dictate a particular result.  Thus, section 3584 does not appear to require the
court to submit additional facts to a jury to justify a consecutive sentence.

There are also special statutory provisions that require a consecutive sentence.  These
statutes, such as 18 U.S.C. §924(c), mandate such treatment for every defendant convicted of the
offense.  Thus, no additional findings are needed, and Blakely does not come into play.  For cases
where the statute of conviction does not mandate consecutive sentences, section 5G1.2(d) of the
Guidelines directs the court to sentence in that manner only to the extent needed to impose the term
of imprisonment that the judge has chosen from within the applicable guideline range.  This comes
into play where the range, in whole or in part, exceeds what is permitted for the count with the
highest statutory maximum.  Again, it does not appear that any additional jury findings are needed
for the court to follow this directive.

Ultimately, further consideration will need to be given to how consecutive versus concurrent
decisions are made.  If, under a modified sentence regime, the decision whether to impose
consecutive sentences is conditioned on a finding of fact, that regime must put such a finding in the
hands of the jury.  If, on the other hand, the new regime leaves the decision to the court’s discretion,
the jury need not play a role.  

There is one final multiple count issue that must be addressed.  Currently, each offense of
conviction carries its own statutory maximum, but conduct that was part of one offense can be used
to affect the total sentence imposed on a different count.  Under the Codified proposal, certain
sentencing factors will become elevated to the status of elements and the offense of conviction will
be defined by the combination of traditional elements and (new) sentencing elements that the jury
finds.  Each offense will start with a “base” version (based on traditional elements), and any number
of aggravated versions will result from the mixing and matching of aggravating factors.  Thus, a base
drug offense might be punishable within a range of 1 – 2 years.  Add in a certain drug amount and
a certain role and the penalty might change to 3 – 4.5 years.  A different combination of amount and
role could lead to a higher range; yet another combination could yield a lower range; and so on.
Under such a regime, there will still need to be some consideration as to how an “unrelated” offense
(that is, one that is not accounted for in the drug offense calculation, such as a theft) affects the
result.  Depending on what facts or factors figure into that calculation, there may need to be a jury
finding that authorizes consecutive sentencing or – in our example – enhancement of the sentence
for the drug offense.
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C. Fines, Restitution, Supervised Release/Revocation, Sentencing Options

1. Fines

A monetary fine is part of the defendant’s sentence and is a criminal penalty, see 18 U.S.C.
§ 3551(b)(2), Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 501-502 (2000).  Consequently, U.S.S.G. §
5E1.2 must be re-written in certain respects to comply with the right to a jury finding based on proof
beyond a reasonable doubt regarding facts essential to punishment.  The jury’s verdict will establish
the offense level and corresponding minimum and maximum fines under section 5E1.2(c)(3) and (4).
The factors set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3572(a) and U.S.S.G. § 5E1.2(d) will be applied by the court as
advisory within the range.

Pursuant to statute, in cases of pecuniary gain or loss, the defendant “may be fined not more
than the greater of twice the gross gain or twice the gross loss.”  See 18 U.S.C. § 3571(d).
Application Note 4 of section 5E1.2 provides for upward departure in three circumstances:  (1)
where “two times either the amount of gain to the defendant or the amount of loss caused by the
offense exceeds the maximum of the fine guideline” in subsection (c); (2) to ensure “disgorgement
of any gain from the offense that otherwise would not be disgorged (e.g., by restitution or
forfeiture)”; and (3) to ensure “an adequate punitive fine.”  Under the Codified proposal, gross gain
or gross loss for purposes of imposing a fine will be charged in the indictment and proved to a jury
beyond a reasonable doubt or admitted by the defendant, and an upward departure will not be
available.  The guideline range will permit varying levels of “punitiveness” in the judge’s discretion.

Though not entirely clear, Application Note 6 of section 5E1.2 can currently be read to permit
an upward departure in cases where the court determines that the defendant failed to disclose income
or assets.  While failure to disclose could be a factor for the court to consider when choosing a fine
within the range, it could not form the basis for an upward departure from the range because the
defendant’s failure would take place – if at all – after the jury verdict and therefore could not be a
fact for the jury to find.  

Additionally, Application Note 6 provides that if “the court concludes that the defendant
willfully misrepresented all or part of his income or assets, it may increase the offense level and
resulting sentence [and the fine associated with that increased offense level] in accordance with
Chapter Three, Part C (Obstruction).”  U.S.S.G. § 5E1.2, comment. (n.6) (emphasis supplied).  This
will no longer be permissible under the Codified proposal.  If the government seeks punishment for
obstruction of justice in this manner (or any other), it will have to charge it in an indictment and
prove it to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt.  Cf. Blakely, 124 S. Ct. at 2539 n.11.  

2. Restitution

Given that the Guidelines direct a court to order restitution where it is authorized by statute
to do so, see U.S.S.G. § 5E1.1(a)(1), any violation of a defendant’s right to a jury finding based on
proof beyond a reasonable doubt that occurs in ordering a defendant to pay an amount of restitution



 However, at least two courts have held that restitution is not subject to Blakely by relying on2

decisions holding that restitution is not a criminal penalty for purposes of the Ex Post Facto Clause.
See United States v. Croxford, 324 F. Supp.2d 1230, 1250 (D. Utah 2004); United States v. Burrell,
2004 WL 1490246 (W.D. Va. 2004).  We believe that this conclusion is wrong because none of the
courts to rule has adequately considered that restitution is a punishment which increases based on
facts found by a judge by a preponderance of the evidence.   
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results from the statutory provisions governing restitution and not the Guidelines.  Nevertheless, the
statutory provisions governing restitution appear to implicate the rights identified in Blakely.  The
court is required to order restitution in the full amount of the victim’s loss, and to determine the
victim’s loss, the court must find facts not established by the jury’s verdict.  See 18 U.S.C. §§ 3663,
3663A, 3664(f)(1)(A).

Restitution is subject to the right to jury factfinding based on proof beyond a reasonable
doubt for two reasons: (1) restitution is punishment; and (2) restitution increases based on facts
found by a judge by a preponderance of the evidence.  Furthermore, the statute itself refers to
restitution as a criminal penalty.  See 18 U.S.C. § 3663A(a)(1) (“Notwithstanding any other
provision of law, when sentencing a defendant convicted of an offense described in subsection (c),
the court shall order, in addition to or in lieu of, any other penalty authorized by law, that the
defendant make restitution to the victim of the offense”) (emphasis supplied).  Even in the Ex Post
Facto context (which says nothing of the Fifth and Sixth Amendment context), the majority view is
that restitution is a criminal penalty.  See United States v. Edwards, 162 F.3d 87, 89-90 (3d Cir.
1998)(collecting cases); United States v. Siegel, 153 F.3d 1256, 1259-61 (11th Cir. 1998).     2

Other courts have ruled that restitution is not subject to Apprendi and later Blakely on the
ground that restitution is not subject to a “statutory maximum.”  See United States v. Wooten, 377
F.3d 1134, 1144 (10th Cir. 2004); United States v. Einstman, 325 F. Supp.2d 373, 382 (S.D.N.Y.
2004); see also United States v. Behrman, 235 F.3d 1049, 1053-54 (7th Cir. 2000) (restitution does
not violate Apprendi both because it is not a criminal penalty and because the restitution statute
“does not include a ‘statutory maximum’ that could be ‘increased’ by a given finding.”).  These
courts reason that because a court is authorized by the fact of a defendant’s conviction to order
restitution for the full amount of the victim’s actual loss, without limitation, the court’s
determination of the amount of loss does not result in an otherwise unauthorized increase in
punishment.  This view was first articulated in response to a post-Apprendi, pre-Blakely challenge.
See Behrman, 235 F.3d at 1053-54.  Courts that have adopted that view post-Blakely have done so
without considering that what now constitutes the statutory maximum is only what is authorized by
the jury’s verdict.  

Therefore, under the Codified proposal, restitution will be subject to the right to jury
factfinding based on proof beyond a reasonable doubt.  Facts leading to restitution determinations
will be required to be pled and proven or admitted by the defendant.     

3. Supervised Release
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We do not believe that the Codified proposal requires modification of the Guidelines or
statutes pertaining to supervised release.  By statute, a court is permitted (and in some instances
required) to impose a term of supervised release and the maximum term is also set by statute.  See
18 U.S.C. § 3583(a), (b).  The Guidelines require a court to impose a term of supervised release
whenever a sentence of more than one year of imprisonment is imposed, and also set minimum terms
of supervised release.  See USSG §§ 5D1.1, 5D1.2.  The length of the term of supervised release
required under the Guidelines is determined by the statutory classification of the offense of
conviction, and the court is not required to find any facts not already established by the jury’s verdict.
Thus, these provisions do not appear to violate Blakely.

4. Revocation of Supervised Release

It appears that the Sixth Amendment jury trial right does not apply to a supervised release
revocation proceeding and thus an order directing a defendant to serve all or part of a term of
supervised release in prison will not be subject to Blakely.  See Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. 471
(1972); Gagnon v. Scarpelli, 411 U.S. 778 (1973); Fed. R. Crim. P. 32.1 advisory committee notes,
1993 Amendments; United States v. Taveras, 380 F.3d 532, 536-38 (1st Cir. 2004).  

By statute, a court has discretion to “revoke a term of supervised release, and require the
defendant to serve in prison all or part of the term of supervised release authorized by statute . . . if
the court, pursuant to the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure applicable to revocation of probation
or supervised release, finds by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant violated a
condition of supervised release . . .”  See 18 U.S.C. § 3583(e)(3).  Before revoking a term of
supervised release or ordering a defendant to serve a term of imprisonment based on the violation,
the court considers “the factors set forth in” section 3553(a)(1), (a)(2)(B)-(D), and (a)(4)-(7).  See
18 U.S.C. § 3583(e).

Subsection (a)(4) of section 3553 requires the court to consider “in the case of a violation of
probation or supervised release, the applicable guidelines or policy statements issued by the
Sentencing Commission.”  See 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(4)(B).  While section 3553(a)(4)(B) only
requires a court to “consider” the Guidelines, section 3553(b)(1) requires the court to impose a
sentence within the applicable guideline range.  See 18 U.S.C. § 3553 (b)(1) (“the court shall impose
a sentence of the kind, and within the range, referred to in subsection (a)(4) unless the court finds
that there exists an aggravating or mitigating circumstance of a kind or to a degree, not adequately
taken into consideration by the Sentencing Commission”).

The Guidelines contain a series of “policy statements” that set forth a comprehensive
approach to violations of supervised release, which include establishing different “grades” of
violations and a “revocation table” with ranges of imprisonment to be imposed based on the grade
of violation and the releasee’s criminal history category.  See U.S.S.G. § 7B1.1-4.  Thus, in revoking
a releasee’s supervised release, and ordering the releasee to serve all or part of the term of supervised
release in prison, a court is unquestionably finding facts that result in the individual being required
to serve time in custody.  Nevertheless, established precedent mandates the conclusion that this does
not violate Blakely because the Sixth Amendment jury trial right does not apply to a supervised
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release revocation proceeding.  See Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. 471 (1972); Gagnon v. Scarpelli,
411 U.S. 778 (1973); Fed. R. Crim. P. 32.1 advisory committee notes, 1993 Amendments; United
States v. Taveras, 380 F.3d 532, 536-38 (1  Cir. 2004).  st

5. Sentencing Options 

We do not believe that a court’s selection of a sentencing option under U.S.S.G. §§ 5F1.1-7
violates Blakely.  A court’s discretionary authority to impose, order or recommend these options is
provided for by statute and the Guidelines merely recognize the court’s discretionary authority to
select one of the options in the specified circumstances.  The Guidelines do not require a court to
find any facts in order to exercise its discretion to select these options where they are available.
Therefore, a court’s selection of an option does not violate Blakely.  Furthermore, with the exception
of the denial of eligibility for certain federal benefits under section 5F1.6, the sentencing options are
not additional penalties in their own right. 

D. Alterations in Rules and Statutes

The Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure and Federal Rules of Evidence will require some
amending under the Codified proposal.  Below is a summary of the types of issues that will need to
be addressed.    

1. Rule 11

The language of Rule 11 will be modified so that, in addition to the determination that the
plea has a factual basis, such a determination must extend to a factual basis for each of the elements.
Rule 11’s  existing requirement  (that the court advise the defendant when taking the plea of any
maximum possible penalty) will necessarily require the court to apprise the defendant of all
guidelines determinations at the time of taking the plea.

2. Rule 16

Blakely’s greater impact, however, will be felt in the realm of discovery.  For example, Rule
16 was designed in great part to streamline pre-trial and trial processes consistent with the Fourth,
Fifth and Sixth Amendments’ responsibilities and prerogatives and to assure defendants a fair
understanding of the actual charges and physical evidence against them, including statements they
purportedly made.  For example, Rule 16(a)(1)(E) mandates disclosure of certain items of
presumptively crucial evidentiary value, if the item is

(i) material to preparing the defense; or
1. the government intends to use the item 

in its case in chief at trial; or
2. the item was obtained from or belongs 

to the defendant.



   Bifurcation may be necessary under the Codified proposal.  The PAG, however, has not closely3

examined bifurcation for the purposes of this letter.  The PAG can provide further input on this issue
if the Commission has questions regarding how bifurcation would be implemented under the
Codified proposal.  
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Thus, if the government alleges a pharmacist was selling opiates out of the back door of his
pharmacy, any FBI 302, DEA 6 or other agent, police or lab report reflecting the specifics of that
conduct is currently mandated for release to defendant at the first pre-trial. On the other hand, pre-
Blakely, the government had no obligation to prove at trial the number of pills sold.  Therefore, other
guideline-relevant as opposed to guilt-relevant analytical reports are not subject to a release
requirement under the rule.  However, under the Codified proposal, to the extent that the number of
units of opiates equates to a specific guideline range, the number of pills sold will become critical
for trial purposes and thus discoverable.  Adequate preparation for any kind of trial defense will now
necessarily involve resolution of some factors which were traditionally sentencing factors.  Thus,
Rule 16 will have to be amended to mandate disclosure of items material to preparing for the jury
adjudication of the sentencing issues as part of the overall defense.

Certainly, to the extent that sentence enhancing provisions of the Guidelines  become a
matter of proof in the case-in-chief, the government will also have no alternative but to reveal pre-
trial physical evidence it has which is relevant to the evaluation of those elements.  Additionally, the
government, if not trying to push a plea, currently may at times fight defendants’ motions designed
to force disclosure of the government’s sentencing calculations. Any fair reading of Blakely suggests
a requirement that the government release any document it has that in any way tends to prove any
enhancement that would increase the guideline range: why a victim is “vulnerable;” how the
defendant would have known; how an otherwise “run of the mill” federal felony could be proven to
have been involved or intended to promote a federal crime of terrorism.

Finally, all the elements of aggravating (and even mitigating) roles will have to be disclosed
(under Rule 16), since they too will have to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt at trial.  

3. Rule 31   3

  An amendment to Rule 31 will be necessary if a bifurcated system is implemented. 

4. Rule 32

Federal Rule 32 also will require some modest fix. Under Rule 32(i)(3), subsection (A) will
not change; however, subsection (B) will require additional language to reflect the Blakely
requirement of proof beyond a reasonable doubt for sentencing issues such as follows: “may consider
only substantive and specific jury findings of fact as to any guideline sentencing enhancement factor,
or rule on any disputed fact relevant to a defendant’s sentence within the guidelines not requiring a
jury finding, such as departures below the guidelines under §5K2.0.”

5. FRE Rule 1101
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The Federal Rules of Evidence will undoubtedly be influenced as well, especially rules such
as Rule 1101(d)(3), which currently precludes employment of the Rules of Evidence in sentencing.
The Rules of Evidence will be relevant since they are based (theoretically, if not always practically)
on due process considerations.  A jury will be required to make a finding beyond a reasonable doubt
as to whether the amount of drugs is five kilos or 500 grams.  Thus, the same safeguards on
reliability of evidence must be the guiding principle for the jury’s decision-making as any other
reasonable doubt-required issue.

III. Alternative Proposals

We have discussed above alterations in the sentencing system that the Commission
should consider in making recommendations to Congress to make the system consistent with
Congress’s and the Commission’s long-term objectives and the Supreme Court’s mandates in
Blakely.  While there are a number of different approaches that the Commission might support,
we urge the Commission not to support any proposal that does not take seriously the purposes of
the Sentencing Reform Act (“SRA”) and the Supreme Court’s concerns in Blakely.  

Our view is that a rational solution will involve a compromise that moves some of the
power to determine adjustments to juries and that maintains a meaningful opportunity to account
for individual variations.  We have therefore urged a system such as the Codified proposal, that
provides the jury with the power to determine, within wider limits than now exist, critical
culpability issues, but which also retains judicial discretion to account for individual variations. 
We believe this is the best solution for resolving the competing tensions between the need to
control unwarranted disparity, promote judicial economy and appropriately recognize a
defendant’s jury trial right.  

Although some members of the defense bar and academia support proposals to modify
the Guidelines to make them advisory rather than mandatory, PAG believes that rules that are
mandatory are valuable in controlling unwarranted disparity, and in providing certainty so that
defendants can make rational decisions in negotiating plea agreements and in trial strategy.  In
addition to undermining uniformity and certainty, advisory guidelines, unless coupled with
increased procedural safeguards such as a more demanding burden of proof, evidentiary rules and
confrontation rights, would once again enshrine the inaccuracy of the pre-Guidelines
indeterminate sentencing system.  The Codified proposal offers a balanced approach to
sentencing in that it preserves a significant degree of discretion for judges while also allowing for
mandatory guidelines to avoid unwarranted disparity.      

Even more, we oppose “fixes” for the Guidelines that seek abandonment of the very goals
that underlie the Guidelines and abandon the compromises that were essential to passage of the
SRA in 1984.  Professor Frank Bowman wrote the most prominent of these proposals (which is
called here the “Statutory Maximum” approach or proposal).  This approach seeks to avoid the
“problem” of the Guidelines’ impingement on a defendant’s constitutional rights by dramatically
increasing the authorized sentence for each crime.  It would maintain the Guidelines as written,
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with a minor change in language that would have a dramatic impact.  Although the minimum
term set by each guideline range would remain, and the judge would still decide all sentencing
factors by a preponderance of the evidence, the maximum for each guideline range would be
removed.  Judges could sentence a defendant up to the congressionally imposed statutory
maximum, in any case, with review only for abuse of discretion.  On the other hand, a judge
could not sentence below the guideline range, except under the very strict rules and standard of
appellate review imposed by the Feeney Amendment.  Errors that increased a defendant’s
exposure would be treated in a fundamentally different and more lenient fashion than errors that
reduced a defendant’s sentence.  The Statutory Maximum approach, in effect, would replace the
structured and balanced system that was contemplated by the SRA with something close to a
system of administratively imposed mandatory minimum sentences.

In our view, this or any similar proposal does not further the purpose of the SRA -- the
regulation of judicial discretion and undue disparity.  The legislative history of the SRA is replete
with statements that the indeterminate system it replaced allowed disparate and inconsistent
results.  The SRA did not spring out of a view that sentences were, on the whole, too lenient. 
Indeed, the bipartisan and system-wide consensus that drove the SRA included many in the
defense community.  Those individuals understood that while some defendants would receive
longer sentences in a Guidelines regime, this price was worth paying to control unwarranted
severity.  Consistent with that promise, the Guidelines contain both a top and a bottom, and they
permit and control both upward and downward departures.

The Statutory Maximum proposal abandons the balance that is essential to the fairness of
the guideline system.  It eliminates control of upward departures and adjustments.  The Feeney
Amendment strictly limits the ability of judges to depart downward.  In combination, the
Statutory Maximum approach and the Feeney Amendment go a long way toward converting the
Guidelines from a general control on judicial disparity to a system of mandatory minimum
sentences.  A sentencing system whose major operating premise is to prevent “undue” leniency is
not the system that was created in 1984, and is not the system we believe the Commission should
go on record as supporting.    

The Statutory Maximum proposal does not argue that the deregulation of upward
departures and adjustments is, in and of itself, sound policy.  It does not assert that the new rules
increasing judicial discretion are advisable because judges have been too constrained in their
ability to depart in an upward direction.  Nor does it take the view that, as a general matter, the
Guidelines are too inflexible.  If so, it would support the view held by many that the Guidelines
should be made purely advisory.  Rather, the sole justification is the assertion that it is the
simplest method of dealing with the constitutional “problem.”  The Statutory Maximum
approach, however, downplays the costs that are imposed by the proposal, costs that somewhat
ironically fall entirely upon the group the Supreme Court sought to benefit in Blakely -- criminal
defendants facing increased punishment.  The Statutory Maximum proposal argues that the
potential for increases in disparity and undue severity that would attend the elimination of
mandatory checks on upward adjustments and departures will not be realized, since judges rarely
depart upward at present.  



Harris, 536 U.S. at 576 (Thomas, J., dissenting).4
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We believe that the threat of undue severity is more significant than the Statutory
Maximum proposal suggests. While there are few upward departures under the current system,
we believe this signifies that the Guidelines are already severe enough, or in many cases too
severe.  Judges rarely depart upward at present because additional aggravating factors simply are
not present in the case and prosecutors cannot prove them.  With the elimination of controls on
upward departures, judges inclined to impose more severe sentences for any reason or no reason
at all will be free to do so.  

Perhaps more important is the impact of the Statutory Maximum proposal on plea
negotiations.  We believe, as do most members of the defense community, that the elimination of
binding guideline maximums will encourage AUSAs to threaten, in a more consistent manner, to
request sentences above the presumptive range.  It would, without question, diminish the
predictability that now governs the bargaining process.  

Finally, the Statutory Maximum proposal is also flawed, as it is the one most likely to be
found in violation of the Constitution.  As the Statutory Maximum approach noted, it can survive
only so long as the Supreme Court declines to extend the rule in Blakely to findings necessary to
enhance a mandatory minimum sentence.  Such sentences were held constitutional in Harris v.
United States, 536 U.S. 545 (2002), but only by the narrowest of margins, and under
circumstances that do not argue strongly for its continued stability.  

In Harris, the Court narrowly upheld a judicially imposed mandatory minimum sentence
based upon a finding that the defendant had ‘brandished’ a firearm.  A four-member plurality
declared that judicially-imposed mandatory minima do not violate a defendant’s jury trial right,
“since the jury’s verdict has authorized the imposition of the minimum, with or without the
finding.”  In a dissent joined by four members of the Court, Justice Thomas disagreed with the
notion that enhancement of a minimum sentence should be decided differently from an
enhancement of the maximum penalty.  He declared that when the legislature provides that a
particular fact shall give rise to a “special punishment” the defendant is entitled to a jury trial on
that fact.     4

Although Justice Thomas’s position fell one vote short of a majority, Justice Breyer
expressed his view that it was difficult to reconcile the result in Harris with the Court’s
jurisprudence in the Apprendi line of cases:

I cannot easily distinguish Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000) 
from this case in terms of logic.  For that reason, I cannot agree with the
 plurality’s opinion insofar as it finds such a distinction.  At the same time, 
I continue to believe that the Sixth Amendment permits judges to apply 



Id., 536 U.S. at 569-70 (Breyer, J., concurring).5

Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 491 n.16.6

 
14

sentencing factors--whether those factors lead to a sentence beyond the 
statutory maximum (as in Apprendi) or the application of a mandatory
 minimum (as here). And because I believe that extending Apprendi 
 to mandatory minimums would have adverse practical, as well as
 legal, consequences, I cannot yet accept its rule.  I therefore join in the
 Court’s judgment, and I join its opinion to the extent that it holds that
Apprendi does not apply to mandatory minimums.       5

To put it mildly, Blakely removes some of the practical reasons that underpinned Justice
Breyer’s decision in Harris.  Although Justice Breyer, in Harris, expressed the view that he was
not “yet” ready to accept the Apprendi line of cases, he may well decide in Booker that it is no
longer possible to resist its result.  Moreover, there will be no practical benefit to a rule declaring
that increases in the bottom of a guideline range, but not in the top, can be found by a judge
based on a preponderance of the evidence.  Finally, the Supreme Court has cautioned that
revising the criminal code and sentencing rules with the intent to evade constitutional rights
would raise additional constitutional questions.   6

In sum, we regard the Statutory Maximum proposal as bad policy and as potentially
unconstitutional.  We urge the Commission not to recommend it to Congress.  Instead, we
recommend that the Commission adopt a recommendation that incorporates a  guideline system
such as represented by the Codified proposal.

Sincerely,

Mark Flanagan
Amy Baron-Evans 

cc: Hon. Rubin Castillo
Hon. William K. Sessions 
Commissioner John R. Steer 
Commissioner Michael E. Horowitz
Commissioner Michael O’Neill
Commissioner Edward F. Reilly, Jr.
Commissioner Deborah J. Rhodes
Charles Tetzlaff, Esq.
Timothy McGrath, Esq.
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